RECEIVED
04-15-2021
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

CASE NO. 2020AP002147 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

٧.

KODY R. KOHN,

Defendant-Appellant.

## DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

APPEAL FROM THE ORDER DENYING MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE ON FEBRUARY 7, 2020 AND THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION FILED ON SEPTEMBER 28, 2020, THE HON. PAUL V. MALLOY, PRESIDING, IN THE OZAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT IN CASE 2019CT000090

> John T. Bayer Attorney for Defendant-Appellant State Bar No. 1073928

Bayer Law Offices 735 North Water Street, Suite 720 Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202

Phone: (414) 434-4211 Fax: (414) 210-5272

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether Kohn's consent to the evidentiary blood draw was obtained voluntarily?

The circuit court answered yes.

2. Whether Kohn was obligated under the discovery statute Wis. Stat. § 971.23(2M) to serve upon the State documents reflecting the data generated from the State's test of Kohn's blood sample for blood alcohol concentration conducted by the State's analyst at the Wisconsin State Lab of Hygiene?

The circuit court answered yes.

3. Whether the trial court should have granted Kohn's motion for dismissal at the end of the State's case of the Bail Jumping charge on the grounds that Kohn cannot legally be convicted of Bail Jumping under the theory that he violated the condition of bail that he not commit another crime for being cited for a first offense OWI forfeiture level offense that got converted to a second offense OWI criminal misdemeanor at a future date by virtue of Kohn being found guilty of a separate pending first offense OWI?

The circuit court answered no.

4. Whether the trial court should have granted Kohn's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict of the Bail Jumping guilty verdict on the grounds that Kohn cannot legally be convicted of Bail Jumping under the theory that he violated the condition of bail that he not commit another crime for being cited for a first offense OWI forfeiture level offense that got converted to a second offense OWI criminal misdemeanor at a future date by virtue of Kohn being found guilty of a separate pending first offense OWI?

The circuit court answered no.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Kohn does not believe that oral argument will assist the Court in considering the issues presented in this appeal; the facts are not complex and can be sufficiently argued in brief format.

Kohn believes that publication is likely to provide needed guidance to litigants and courts throughout Wisconsin on the proper application of standards and procedures for requesting evidentiary blood samples from suspects arrested of OWI under

the implied consent law and to assist courts in ruling properly on State's objections to defendant's attempting to cross examine State's Analysts with their own data and to assist courts in deciding whether defendants can be accused of Bail Jumping for committing a second first offense OWI that gets converted to a second offense OWI at a future date due to a separate OWI conviction occurring after the date of the alleged Bail Jumping.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is about whether the defendant Kody R. Kohn's consent to the evidentiary blood draw was rendered involuntary by the Informing the Accused form's warning to the defendant that his refusal to the blood draw will subject him to other penalties. (R.13:2; APP020). The circuit court denied Kohn's motion to suppress evidence based upon unlawful consent to blood draw. (R.21:1; APP049). Kohn contends herein that the circuit court's findings were erroneous.

Additionally, this case is about whether three legal arguments that were heard by the court at Kohn's Jury Trial on September 8, 2020 were properly decided by the trial court against Kohn. The first argument is regarding whether the court properly granted the State's objection to Kohn's attempt at using exhibits to assist in the cross examination of the State's blood test analyst. (R.72:137; APP234). The exhibits Kohn was attempting to use to cross examine the State's analyst were documents reflecting the data regarding the test that the State's analyst generated when testing Kohn's blood sample to determine the blood alcohol concentration in the sample. (R.72:132-137; APP229-234). The State objected to Kohn's use of these exhibits on the ground that Kohn had not turned over these documents to the State per the State's discovery demand. *Id.* The court sustained the State's objection and denied Kohn the ability to cross examine the State's analyst regarding the testing of his blood sample with the exhibits. (R.72:137; APP234). Kohn

contends herein that the circuit court's findings were erroneous.

The second and third legal arguments that were heard by the court at Kohn's Jury Trial on September 8, 2020 were a motion for dismissal at the close of the State's case and motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict. (R.72:244; APP341). The State's theory of prosecution for the Bail Jumping charge was that Kohn violated a condition of bond he was under that he not commit another crime and the basis of the crime he was alleged to have committed was the OWI Second Offense Kohn was on trial for at Kohn's Jury Trial which was originally a first offense OWI when Kohn committed the offense on November 30, 2018. (R.72:246; APP343). Kohn moved to dismiss the Bail Jumping charge and moved for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict and argued that there is no basis for this charge under this theory of prosecution by the State because at the time the OWI was committed it was a first offense traffic level forfeiture offense and not a criminal misdemeanor second offense OWI. (R.72:245; APP342). The OWI was converted to a second offense criminal misdemeanor OWI at a future date due to the fact that Kohn was convicted of a separate OWI first offense citation. (R.72:246; APP343). When Kohn actually committed the OWI offense that was the subject of the Bail Jumping charge it was a traffic offense and not a crime, thus Kohn argued that the State did not provide a proper basis for which a jury could find him guilty of violation of this condition of bond and requested the court grant his motion to dismiss and motion notwithstanding judgment on the verdict. (R.72:245; APP343). The court denied Kohn's motion. (R.72:246; APP343). Kohn contends herein that the circuit court's findings were erroneous.

The following facts are relevant to the Court's understanding of the issues presented herein.

On November 30, 2018, Kohn was arrested for OWI and Operating with Prohibited Alcohol Concentration First Offense by Officer Ryan Hurda of the City of Port Washington Police Department. (R.23:2; APP004). Officer Hurda first observed Kohn's vehicle traveling above the speed limit in a City of Port Washington road and also observed a damaged/missing passenger side tail/brake light and observed the vehicle drifting within its lane. *Id.* Officer Hurda conducted a traffic stop on the vehicle and identified Kohn as the driver of this vehicle. *Id.* Officer Hurda observed factors that Kohn may be impaired and requested Kohn perform standardized field sobriety tests. Id. Officer Hurda concluded that Kohn did not perform satisfactory on the standardized field sobriety tests and placed Kohn under arrest for OWI. Id. Subsequent to the arrest for OWI, Officer Hurda read Kohn the Informing the Accused form and requested Kohn to consent to an evidentiary chemical test of his blood. (R.67:6; APP080). A standard warning on this Informing the Accused form that was read to Kohn warned Kohn that if he refuses to consent to the blood draw voluntarily that Kohn will be subject to other penalties. (R.38:1; APP070). After being apprised of the warnings in the Informing the Accused form. Kohn agreed to consent to a chemical test of his blood. (R.67:10; APP084). Kohn's blood was drawn at the Aurora Medical Center and the sample was sent to the Wisconsin State Laboratory of Hygiene for analysis. (R.24:2; APP004). The result of the analysis showed that Kohn's blood contained 0.086 % weight of alcohol. Id.

Kohn was convicted of an OWI First Offense from a separate matter with a violation date of November 25, 2018 and conviction date of February 15, 2019. *Id.* As a result of the conviction, the OWI in the instant case became an OWI Second Offense misdemeanor case and a criminal complaint was filed on February 28, 2019 charging Kohn with OWI Second Offense and Operating with PAC Second Offense. (R.1:1-2; APP001-APP002). On June 8, 2020 the State filed an amended criminal complaint charging Kohn with Misdemeanor Bail Jumping. (R.23:2; APP004). The State's theory of prosecution on the Bail Jumping charge was that Kohn violated a

Page 12 of 35

bond condition he was under that Kohn shall not commit another crime which condition stemmed from a bond from Ozaukee County case 2018CM000499 in which Kohn was released on bond on November 26, 2018. Id. At the conclusion of Kohn's Jury Trial in the instant case on September 8, 2020, Kohn moved to dismiss the Bail Jumping charge and Moved for Judgment Notwithstanding Verdict on the Bail Jumping charge arguing that there is no factual basis for a jury to find Kohn guilty of Bail Jumping because at the time Kohn committed the OWI offense on November 30, 2018 it was a first offense OWI and therefore it was not a crime and it only later became a criminal misdemeanor second offense OWI after Kohn was convicted of a first offense OWI in a separate first offense OWI. (R.72:245; APP342). The court denied the motions. (R.72:246; APP343).

At Kohn's Jury Trial on September 8, 2020 the State's analyst from the Wisconsin State Lab of Hygiene, Aaron Zane, testified on behalf of the State regarding the testing and result of the blood sample that was taken from Kohn on November 30, 2018 and which was found to contain 0.086 % weight of alcohol. (R.72:151; APP248). Kohn attempted to use exhibits that reflected the data generated by the analyst Zane in regards to the test conducted on Kohn's sample in Kohn's cross examination of the analyst Zane but the State objected to the use of these documents on the grounds that Kohn did not turn these documents over to the State per the State's discovery demand. (R.72:131-137; APP228-APP234). Kohn argued that Kohn did not have a duty under Wis. Stat. § 971.23(2M) to turn over these particular documents to the State because these documents are already in the possession of the State as these documents are simply standard data documents generated by the State's analyst upon the testing of Kohn's blood sample. *Id.* Kohn argued that were Kohn obligated to turn over these documents to the State that Kohn would be unnecessarily telepathing his defense strategy to the State prior to trial. *Id.* The court sustained the State's objection to Kohn's use of these documents and Kohn

was not allowed to use exhibits reflecting the data generated by the State's analyst in regards to Kohn's blood sample for blood alcohol concentration in the cross examination of the State's analyst. *Id.* 

Kohn was found guilty of all three counts charged in the amended criminal complaint (OWI Second Offense, Operating with PAC Second Offense, and Misdemeanor Bail Jumping) on September 8, 2020. (R.50:1-2; APP073-APP074). The court sentenced Kohn to serve fifteen days in jail and ordered fines and costs totaling \$2512.00. Id. The court ordered eighteen months of license revocation and eighteen months of Ignition Interlock Device and an AODA Assessment and Driver Safety Plan. Id. Kohn appeals from the court's adverse ruling on his motion to suppress evidence based upon involuntary consent to blood draw and from the adverse ruling on the objection to the use of scientific documents in the cross examination of the State's analyst and from the adverse ruling on Kohn's motion to dismiss and motion for judgment notwithstanding verdict on the Bail Jumping charge. Kohn argues herein that his consent to the blood draw was not obtained voluntarily and therefore evidence resulting from the violation of his rights under both the US and Wisconsin Constitutions should be suppressed. Kohn also argues herein that his rights were violated when he was denied the ability to use exhibits reflecting data generated by the State's analyst regarding Kohn's blood sample being tested for blood alcohol content by the State's analyst and he should be granted a new trial and Kohn argues that his rights were violated when his motion to dismiss the Bail Jumping charge and motion for judgment notwithstanding verdict on the Bail Jumping charge were denied by the trial court and requests this court grant these motions and order the Bail Jumping charge dismissed.

## **ARGUMENT**

I. KOHN'S CONSENT TO THE EVIDENTIARY BLOOD DRAW WAS OBTAINED INVOLUNTARILY AND THUS IN VIOLATION OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS AND THUS THE EVIDENCE IT PRODUCED SHOULD HAVE BEEN SUPPRESSED

#### A. Standard of Review

Kohn asks this court to reverse the circuit court's order denying his Motion to Suppress Evidence Based Upon Involuntary Consent to Blood Draw filed on February 7, 2020. (R.21:1; APP049). When this court reviews a motion to suppress evidence, the proper standard of review is: "for this court to uphold the trial court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous. State v. Eckert, 203 Wis.2d 497, 518, 553 N.W.2d 539 (Ct.App.1996). However, the application of constitutional principles to those facts is a question of law that we decide without deference to the court's decision. State v. Patricia A.P., 195 Wis.2d 855, 862, 537 N.W.2d 47 (Ct.App.1995). Further, 'the constitutional significance of the undisputed facts regarding the issue of consent must receive independent, appellate review." State v. Johnson, 177 Wis.2d 224, 233, 501 N.W.2d 876 (Ct.App.1993)." Village of Little Chute v. Walitalo, 256 Wis.2d 1032, 1036 (Ct.App.2002).

B. The warning contained in the Informing the Accused stating that "You will be subject to other penalties" if you refuse to consent to a blood draw that was read to Kohn prior to Kohn consenting to the blood draw rendered Kohn's consent to the blood draw involuntary

Consent to a search is a well settled exception to the Fourth Amendment requirements of both a warrant and

probable cause. Id. at 1037 (citing Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 219, 93 S.Ct. 2041, 36 L.Ed.2d 854 (1973). "A warrantless search conducted pursuant to consent which is 'freely and voluntarily given' does not violate the Fourth Amendment." Id. (citing State v. Phillips, 218 Wis.2d 180, 196, 577 N.W.2d 794 (1998) (citation omitted)). The burden is upon the State to prove by clear and convincing evidence that the consent to the evidentiary blood draw was given by the defendant voluntarily. Village of Little Chute v. Walitalo, 256 Wis.2d 1032, 1038 The court should engage in a two-step (2002).analysis to determine voluntariness of consent: First, did the defendant in fact consent to the blood draw. Id at 1037. Second, was the consent voluntarily given. Id. For the second prong of this analysis, the focus of the inquiry is the presence or absence of actual coercion or improper police practice because it is determinative on the issue of whether the consent was the product of a free and unconstrained will, reflecting deliberateness of choice. Id at 1037-1038. The court must also take into consideration the physical and emotional condition of the defendant determining voluntariness of consent. State v. Phillips, 218 Wis.2d 180, 202 (1998). The focus will generally be on the defendant's age, intelligence, education, physical and emotional condition, and prior experience with police. Id.

A motion hearing in the instant case occurred regarding whether the defendant's consent to the blood draw was voluntarily obtained under the Fourth Amendment on December 2, 2019. (R.67:1; APP075). Officer Ryan Hurda of the City of Port Washington Police Department testified at the Motion Hearing that after he placed Kohn under arrest for OWI that he read Kohn the Informing the Accused form verbatim which was admitted into evidence as Exhibit Number 1. (R.67:6; APP080). After reading the form to Kohn Officer Hurda testified that Kohn consented to a blood draw by answering "yes" that Kohn will submit to an evidentiary chemical test of his blood. Officer Hurda testified that after Kohn APP082).

consented to the blood draw Officer Hurda brought Kohn to the hospital and Kohn's blood was drawn. (R.67:11; APP085). Officer Hurda testified that at the time he read Kohn the informing the accused form Officer Hurda believed Kohn was under the influence of an intoxicant, including alcohol. (R.67:10; APP084).

A blood draw is considered a Fourth Amendment issue with the privacy concerns being equivalent to that of police entering a person's home. Missouri v. McNeely, 569 US 141 (2013), held that a blood draw is an invasion of bodily integrity that implicates an individual's "most personal and deep rooted expectations of privacy." Id at 148. The Court noted that as search warrants are ordinarily required for searches of dwellings, absent an emergency, no less can be required where intrusions into the human body are concerned, even when the search is conducted following a lawful arrest. Id. "The importance of requiring authorization by a 'neutral and detached magistrate' before allowing a law enforcement officer to 'invade another's body in search of evidence of guilt is indisputable and great." Id. Therefore, because this matter presents a blood draw, and Officer Hurda in this matter never obtained a search warrant, the exception to the warrant requirement must be justified as the consent exception to the warrant requirement. (R.67:11; APP085).

Kohn argued an additional argument in regards to whether his consent to the blood draw was voluntary in the Motion to Suppress Evidence Derived from Involuntary Consent to Blood Draw filed on August 23, 2019. (R.13:2; APP020). Kohn does not argue here as he did in the circuit court that the warning in the informing the accused form that his refusal to consent to a blood draw cannot be used as consciousness of guilt at the underlying OWI trial and thus it is a false and coercive warning as this argument was rejected in a recent published decision, State v. Levanduski, 393 Wis.2d 674 (2020). Id. Kohn does reargue here though that the warning that he would

have been 'subject to other penalties' is coervice, as the legality of this particular warning was not covered in the *Levanduski* opinion. (R.13:3-4; APP021-APP022).

In the instant case, Officer Hurda read Kohn the Informing the Accused form verbatim prior to asking Kohn to submit to a blood draw. (R.67:6; APP080). In the informing the accused, Officer Hurda warned Kohn that: "If you refuse to take any test that this agency requests, your operating privilege will be revoked and you will be subject to other penalties." (R.15:1; APP026). Kohn responded that he will consent to the blood draw after being apprised of this information by Officer Hurda. (R.67:8; APP082). This information provided by Officer Hurda to Kohn was coercive as it suggested to Kohn that if he were to refuse consent to the blood draw he will be subject to a criminal sentence or penalty, as the phrase 'other penalties' is suggestive of a criminal penalty, which is in contrast to Kohn's rights under State v. Dalton, 383 Wis.2d 147 (2018). It is important to note that the Dalton case was simply an application of Birchfield v. North Dakota, 136 S. Ct. 2160 (2016) which was decided by the US Supreme Court on June 23, 2016. which held that it is a violation of a defendant's Fourth Amendment rights to be criminally punished for refusing a blood draw, as the Dalton court states:

> "The Birchfield court recognized that 'there must be a limit to the consequences to which motorists may be deemed to have consented by virtue of a decision to drive on public roads.' 136 S.Ct. at 2185. The limitation it established directs: no criminal penalties may be imposed for refusal. Here the record demonstrates that Dalton was criminally penalized for his refusal to submit to a blood draw. By explicitly punishing Dalton for refusal, the circuit court violated Birchfield. In denying Dalton's postconviction motion after remand, it made an error of law by misapplying Birchfield. Such error constitutes an erroneous exercise of discretion. therefore conclude that the circuit court violated Birchfield by explicitly subjecting Dalton to a more severe criminal penalty because he refused to provide a blood sample absent a warrant."

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