Filed 06-30-2021

FILED 06-30-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Appeal Case No. 2020AP002147

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

KODY R. KOHN,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER AND JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR OZAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE PAUL V. MALLOY PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Benjamin Lindsay Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1079445 Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent

Ozaukee District Attorney's Office 1201 South Spring Street Port Washington, Wisconsin 53074 Phone: (262) 284-8380 Fax: (262) 284-8365 Email: benjamin.lindsay@da.wi.gov

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

ARGUMENT

I. This Court should affirm the circuit court order denying Kohn's motion to suppress because the Informing the Accused form did not threaten criminal penalties, nor invalidate Kohn's consent.

A. Standard of Review

The review of a circuit court's order granting or denying a suppression motion presents a question of constitutional fact. *State v. Dearborn*, 2010 WI 84, ¶13, 327 Wis. 2d 252, 786 N.W.2d 97. The appeals court "will uphold the court's factual findings until they are clearly erroneous," but will "independently apply constitutional principles to those facts." *State v. Coffee*, 2019 WI App 25, ¶6, 387 Wis. 2d 673, 929 N.W.2d 245.

B. The Informing the Accused properly informed Kohn about potential civil penalties for refusal.

Wisconsin's implied consent law requires law enforcement officers to read the Informing the Accused form to an arrested driver prior to requesting consent to a chemical test of their breath or blood. Wis. Stat. § 343.305, provides in relevant part:

(3) ... (a) Upon arrest of a person for a violation of [Wis. Stat. §] 346.63(1) ... a law enforcement officer may request the person to provide one or more samples of his or her breath, blood or urine

••••

(4) Information. At the time that a chemical test specimen is requested under sub. (3)(a) ..., the law enforcement officer shall read the following to the person from whom the test specimen is requested:

"You have ... been arrested for an offense that involves driving or operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of alcohol or drugs, or both ...

This law enforcement agency now wants to test one or more samples of your breath, blood or urine to determine the concentration of alcohol or drugs in your system. If any test shows more alcohol in your system than the law permits while driving, your operating privilege will be suspended. If you refuse to take any test that this agency requests, your operating privilege will be revoked *and you will be subject to other penalties*. The test results or the fact that you refused testing can be used against you in court.

(Emphasis added.)

Wisconsin law provides a number of civil penalties in addition to operating privilege revocation that are imposed upon refusal. These include a one year ignition interlock device (IID) requirement or 24-7 absolute sobriety program, 343.301(1g)(am); a prohibited alcohol Wis. Stat. § concentration limit of 0.02 during that same period, Wis. Stat. § 340.01(46m)(c); and a 30-day waiting period prior to obtaining an occupational license, Wis. Stat. Ş 343.305(10)(b)2. Some of these civil penalties are enhanced if the driver has a prior refusal or OWI-related offense on his or her driver record, Wis. Stat. \$ 343.301(2m), or if there was a minor child under 16 years of age in the vehicle, Wis. Stat. § 343.305(10)(b)4m.

While criminal penalties cannot be imposed as a consequence for refusal, it has been long-accepted that a state may impose civil penalties for implied consent violations. In *Birchfield v. North Dakota*, the U.S. Supreme Court noted:

Our prior opinions have referred approvingly to the general concept of implied-consent laws that impose civil penalties and evidentiary consequences on motorists who refuse to comply. *See*, *e.g.*, [*Missouri v. McNeely*, 569 U.S. 141, 160-161 (2013)] (plurality opinion); [*South Dakota v. Neville*, 459 U.S. 553, 560 (1983)]. Petitioners do not question the constitutionality of those laws, and nothing we say here should be read to cast doubt on them.

Birchfield v. North Dakota, 136 S. Ct. 2160, 2185 (2016).

The Informing the Accused form states that, upon refusal, other penalties will be imposed in addition to revocation of operating privilege. This is an accurate statement of Wisconsin law and the constitutionality of civil penalties for refusal has been emphasized in *Birchfield* and prior cases.

C. Kohn was not coerced into agreeing to a blood draw—he was properly informed of potential civil penalties for refusal.

Prior to obtaining Kohn's consent to the blood draw, Officer Hurda read Kohn the Informing the Accused as directed by Wis. Stat. § 343.305. (R. 67:6.) This properly informed Kohn that additional civil penalties would be imposed upon refusal. Nothing in the language of the Informing the Accused contains any reference to a criminal penalty upon refusal. There is also nothing in the record to suggest that Kohn actually believed a criminal penalty would be imposed. Instead, Kohn's argument rests upon the assumption that "an arrestee would believe that he is being threatened with criminal penalties." (Pet'r Br. 5.)³

However, the language of the Informing the Accused form does not support Kohn's argument that it threatens criminal penalties. There is nothing in the form that threatens imprisonment or a fine—the two most common criminal penalties. In fact, every penalty or consequence listed on the Informing the Accused is a civil penalty:

> If any test shows more alcohol in your system than the law permits while driving, *your operating privilege will be suspended*. If you refuse to take any test that this agency requests, *your operating privilege will be revoked and you will be subject to other penalties*....

> If you have a commercial driver license or were operating a commercial motor vehicle, other consequences may result from positive test results or from refusing testing, *such as being placed out of service or disqualified.*"

³ Kohn makes a contrary argument with regard to his bail jumping claim. There he insists that he could not have violated bail conditions because the only intent he demonstrated was to commit a civil OWI violation, and not to commit a crime. It seems counterintuitive that a driver would assume a second OWI offense is a civil violation, but that "other penalties" upon refusal for the same offense must be criminal.

Page 13 of 21

In addition, *your operating privileges will also be suspended* if a detectable amount of a restricted controlled substance is in your blood.

(R. 15 (emphasis added).) The only reasonable interpretation in this context is that "other penalties" are additional civil penalties similar to those listed on the Informing the Accused form.

Kohn's argument in this case the functional equivalent to the argument rejected by this Court in *State v. Levanduski*, 2020 WI App 53, 393 Wis. 2d 674, 948 N.W.2d 411. Levanduski argued that the language within the Informing the Accused form stating that the refusal "can be used against [her] in court" was a misrepresentation of the law, coercive, and rendered her consent to the blood draw involuntary. *Id.*, ¶ 6. This Court found that recent decisions have reinforced the rule that a refusal to submit to a blood draw may be used as evidence in court. *Id.*, ¶ 10. The court found the officer correctly stated the law while reading the Informing the Accused and that Levanduski's consent was therefore voluntary. *Id.*, ¶ 15.

In discussing recent U.S. Supreme Court and Wisconsin Supreme Court decisions regarding implied-consent laws, *Levanduski* specifically emphasized ability of a state to impose civil penalties as a consequence for refusal. *Id.*, ¶ 12. These are the exact "other penalties" referenced in the Informing the Accused form which was read to Kohn.

The only difference between this case and *Levanduski* is that Kohn targets a different portion of the Informing the Accused language. He then asserts without legal or factual support that the language is false statement of the law, and asks the Court to find that his consent to the blood draw was not voluntary. The Court should apply a similar analysis to *Levanduski* and find that the Informing the Accused language was accurate and that Kohn's consent was voluntary.

II. Kohn was required under Wis. Stat. § 971.23(2m)(c) to disclose physical evidence he intended to offer in evidence at trial and the circuit court correctly excluded those exhibits.

A. Standard of Review

A trial court's decision to admit or exclude evidence is a discretionary determination that will not be upset on appeal if it has "a reasonable basis" and was made "in accordance with accepted legal standards and in accordance with the facts of record." *State v. Pharr*, 115 Wis.2d 334, 342, 340 N.W.2d 498, 501 (1983).

B. Wis. Stat. § 971.23(2m)(c) required Kohn to disclose the exhibits he intended to offer in evidence at trial.

Wisconsin's reciprocal discovery statute requires both the district attorney and the defendant to disclose the physical evidence each party intends to offer into evidence at trial. Wis. Stat. § 971.23(2m)(c). The state is not arguing that Kohn had a general discovery obligation to turn over all reports or data compilations that he obtained from the State Laboratory of Hygiene. However, Kohn is required to disclose the five exhibits that he intended to offer into evidence at trial.

In this case, Kohn's attorney acknowledged that he did not disclose the exhibits he intended to offer in evidence so as to maintain an element of surprise. (R. 72:134.) The court specifically inquired with Attorney Bayer prior to the start of trial whether he was planning to introduce physical evidence that had not been disclosed. (R. 72:10.) Attorney Bayer avoided a direct response and instead asserted his belief that it "would be relevant only if the defense had an expert and were somehow doing tests." (*Id.*)

Kohn now attempts to parse the definition of "possession, custody, or control" to argue he had no obligation to disclose the exhibits he intended to admit at trial. "Possession, custody, or control" is not defined by statute. Wis. Stat. § 971.23. However, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has noted that 1995 Wis. Act 387, which created Wis. Stat. § 971.23(2m)(c), was "intended to expand the discovery and

disclosure requires that apply to both the State and the defendant." *State v. DeL*ao, 2002 WI 49, ¶ 20, 252 Wis. 2d 289, 643 N.W.2d 480. Under any plain meaning of the word, Kohn "possessed" the exhibits that he intended to admit into evidence at trial and deliberately withheld them for strategic advantage.

There are ample public policy reasons why the evidence a party intends to offer into evidence should be disclosed before the day of trial. As the Wisconsin Court of Appeals has stated:

> Wisconsin has abandoned the concept of "trial by ambush" where neither side of the lawsuit knows until the actual day of trial what the other side will reveal in the way of witnesses or facts. The former system may have been one of great sport and mystery, but is hardly defensible as a means to determine the truth. Adequate preparation for trial by counsel with full knowledge of the facts before them will result not only in a more orderly trial, but in many cases will result in counsel reevaluating their cases so as to avoid needless trials.

Carlson Heating, Inc. v. Onchuck, 104 Wis. 2d 175, 180, 311 N.W.2d 673, 676 (Ct. App. 1981). In this case, the refusal to identify or disclose defense exhibits prior to trial resulted in an unnecessary delay during which the jury was required to wait and a witness had to be excused from the stand so that the court could rule on an issue that should have been addressed before trial. (R. 71:131-138.)

Wis. Stat. § 971.23(7m)(a) permits the trial court to exclude witnesses or evidence not disclosed as required by Wis. Stat. § 971.23(2m)(c). Here, the trial court appropriately excluded the exhibits but still allowed the defense to fully cross examine the laboratory analyst about the information that was contained within the exhibits. (R. 72:139.) This was a reasonable ruling by the trial court and should not be overturned as an erroneous exercise of discretion.

C. Even if the trial court erred in excluding the five exhibits which Kohn intended to offer in evidence, any such error was harmless as there was no prejudice.

A court's ruling on a discovery violation is subject to a harmless error analysis. See State v. Rice, 2008 WI App 10, ¶ 14, 307 Wis. 2d 335, 743 N.W.2d 517. In addition, an alleged violation of a defendant's right to present a defense is also subject to a harmless error analysis. State v. Kramer, 2006 WI App 133, ¶ 26, 294 Wis. 2d 780, 720 N.W.2d 459. An error is harmless if "clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error." Id. ¶ 26; Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 18 (1999).

If the trial court erred in this case by excluding the five exhibits that Kohn intended to offer in evidence, any error would have been harmless. Kohn was still permitted to fully cross examine the laboratory analyst regarding the contents of the exhibits. (R. 72:170-182.) Kohn also emphasized this evidence repeatedly to the jury in closing. (R. 72: 214-215; 227-229.) A review of the record shows that the jury had an opportunity to consider this evidence and nevertheless found Kohn guilty. As such, any alleged error in excluding the five exhibits was harmless.

III. Kohn's commission of a second OWI offense while released on bail was a violation of the bail condition to commit no crime.

A. Standard of Review

Kohn presents this issue as both that of sufficiency of the evidence or review of a denial of a motion notwithstanding the verdict. However, the legal issue presented could have been raised at a variety of points in the proceedings.⁴ The real question presented is whether Kohn violated a condition of bail to commit no crime by committing a second OWI offense after

⁴ While Kohn did not raise these challenges, the same issue would arise with a challenge to the sufficiency of the amended criminal complaint (R. 39) or an objection to the jury instruction informing the jury that, in relation to the bail jumping charge, operating while under the influence of an intoxicant or operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant is a crime (R. 73:195).

being released on bail but prior to conviction for the first OWI offense.

The factual issues in relation to this question do not appear to be in dispute. The remaining issues involve the interpretation and application of Wisconsin statutes which the Court reviews *de novo*. Appellate courts "independently interpret and apply Wisconsin statutes under known facts as questions of law." *City of Cedarburg v. Hansen*, 2020 WI 11, ¶ 12, 390 Wis. 2d 109, 938 N.W.2d 463.

B. A defendant who commits a second OWI offense prior to conviction for the first OWI offense commits a crime.

In *State v. Banks*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that criminal penalties for second offense OWI apply "regardless of the order in which the offenses were committed and the convictions were entered." *State v. Banks*, 105 Wis. 2d 32, 48, 313 N.W.2d 67 (1981). In *Banks*, the defendant committed two OWI offenses within a three-month period and was convicted of the later-in-time offense as a civil violation. The earlier-in-time offense. *Id.* at 36.

The Supreme Court specifically distinguished penalties for repeat OWI offenses from other penalty enhancers which require a prior conviction before the commission of a subsequent offense. *Id.* at 47. *Banks* emphasized:

The conclusion that the legislature intended the criminal penalties ... to be applied to a driver who repeatedly violates sec. 346.63(1), regardless of the sequence of offenses is consistent with the recognized nationwide and state legislative objective of removing drunken drivers from the highways.

Id. at 48. *Banks* establishes that a defendant who commits a second OWI offense commits a crime, even it occurs prior to conviction for the first OWI offense.

Notably, the Supreme Court rejected several arguments in *Banks* which bear similarity to the arguments advanced by Kohn. First, Banks argued that the OWI penalty statute was unconstitutionally vague in that it "does not give the actor notice at the time he commits the offense whether or not his conduct is criminal or what the range of punishment his conduct will subject him to." *Id.* at 50. The Supreme Court responded that the statute "gives ample notice to a driver who wishes to avoid criminal penalties that a second offense of driving under the influence of intoxicants subjects a driver to criminal penalties." *Id.* at 51.

Second, Banks claimed that the OWI penalty statute had an *ex post facto* effect because "at the time of the commission of the second drunken driving offense he could not determine whether his conduct was criminal." *Id.* The Supreme Court also rejected this argument and noted that the statute "clearly provided criminal punishment for a drunken driving violation which results in a second conviction during a [then] five-year period." *Id.* at 76.

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